## IN THE SUPREME COURT

#### OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

HIROSHI HORIIKE,

Plaintiff and Appellant, (Lo

Deputy

v.

COLDWELL BANKER RESIDENTIAL BROKERAGE COMPANY, a California Corporation, and CHRIS CORTAZZO, an individual,

Defendants and Respondents.

(Los Angeles County Super. Ct. No. SC110477)

B246606

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### KLINEDINST PC

Neil Gunny, Esq., Bar No. 76639 777 S. Figueroa Street, Suite 2800 Los Angeles, California 90017 Telephone: (213) 406-1100 Facsimile: (213) 406-1101 ngunny@klinedinstlaw.com

GREINES, MARTIN, STEIN & RICHLAND LLP

Kent L. Richland, Esq., Bar No. 51413
\*Edward L. Xanders, Esq., Bar No. 145779

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

When the buyer and the seller in a residential real estate transaction are each independently represented by a different salesperson from the same brokerage firm, does Civil Code section 2079.13, subdivision (b), make each salesperson (without their consent) the fiduciary of both the buyer and the seller, with the duties to provide undivided loyalty, confidentiality and counseling to both their own client and the opposing side?

#### INTRODUCTION1

For the first time in California history, a published opinion (Second Appellate District, Division Five) holds that when the buyer and the seller in a California residential real estate transaction are each independently represented by a different salesperson from the same brokerage, each salesperson becomes a "dual agent"—the fiduciary to *both* the buyer and the seller—by operation of law and without regard to the intentions of the parties or their salespersons. Of course, salespersons and their clients have long enjoyed the freedom to *choose* dual agency in a given transaction.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Multiple agency relationships arise in real estate sales: (1) a salesperson, commonly known as a real estate agent, has an agency relationship with the client, i.e., the buyer or seller; (2) the broker with whom the salesperson is licensed or affiliated has an agency relationship with the salesperson's client; and (3) the salesperson has an agency relationship with the broker. As a result, references to "agent" and "principal" in real estate statutes and cases can be unclear. For clarity, we describe the parties as salespersons, broker and client (or buyer or seller), and avoid the terms "real estate agent," "listing agent" or "selling agent."

Dual agency at the salesperson level has proven workable where the interests of the buyer and seller are well-aligned.

The trial court had held—in accordance with settled agency-law principles and longstanding real estate practice inside California and across the country—that when the buyer and seller have each chosen to hire their own salesperson, it is only the brokerage, not the individual salespersons, that owes fiduciary duties to *both* parties. Thus, absent contrary agreement, the seller's salesperson is *not* a dual agent but is, instead, only a fiduciary to his client—the seller.

Reversing the trial court, the opinion up-ends California law and creates a public-policy nightmare for prospective buyers and sellers of California residences. Given the prevalence of national and regional brokerage firms, salespersons from the same firm often end up on opposite sides of residential transactions. By transforming each salesperson into the fiduciary of both parties, the opinion deprives buyers and sellers in intrafirm transactions of their *choice* of having the undivided loyalty of an exclusive agent. The salespersons will owe fiduciary duties to parties whose interests inherently conflict. The opinion will force salespersons to harm their original client by disclosing to the other side sensitive information about the client's motivations or the salesperson's personal beliefs. For example, a seller's salesperson would have to disclose to the buyer that the seller needs to close a sale quickly or that the seller has financial difficulties, and the buyer's salesperson would have to disclose to the seller his opinion that he thinks the seller is getting a bad deal.

Also, because fiduciaries owe duties to research and investigate their clients' needs, and to counsel their clients, the opinion forces salespersons to ferret out sensitive information from, and provide counsel to, complete strangers—all against *everyone's* will. The result is perverse, as this case exemplifies. Here, the opinion transforms the seller's salesperson into the buyer's fiduciary, even though they met only once, spoke only a few words to each other, and literally do not even speak the same language.

The opinion will be deeply disruptive. Because compliance with fiduciary duties to one client will frequently entail a breach of fiduciary duties to the other, salespersons risk being sued no matter what they do. The opinion inevitably will trigger an increase in litigation that will cause a concomitant increase in insurance premiums. Alternatively, large firms may avoid intra-firm transactions altogether, which would shut buyers and sellers off from huge portions of the market.

The opinion fails to address any of these important public policy issues. Instead, the holding rests entirely on a highly questionable interpretation of Civil Code section 2079.13, subdivision (b). The opinion construes that subsection as providing that a brokerage firm's duties to the buyer and the seller are imputed to the firm's salespersons. But the notion that the Legislature intended that result is particularly dubious, in light of the fact that the opinion's construction diverges starkly from settled agency law in two crucial respects: (1) it effectively imposes a heretofore unknown doctrine of respondeat *inferior* by imputing the broker's duties as principal *downward* to its agent-salespersons; and (2) it *forces* the salespersons and

non-principal buyer/seller into an agency relationship against their will, even though agency law requires consent. In fact, the legislative history is clear that the legislative goal was to require informational disclosures about *existing* agency law, not to announce a revolution in that law.

The opinion rests on a single sentence buried in Civil Code section 2079.13, subdivision (b), a subsection that merely provides definitions for other statutes. The only logical construction of that sentence—backed by the overall statutory context and language, the legislative history, settled agency law *and* public policy—is that the Legislature intended to confirm that a principal-agent relationship exists between a broker and associate licensees and therefore the licensee's duties are also those of the broker. Thus, as the trial court found, a salesperson's fiduciary duties to the client are imputed to the brokerage firm, as are the salesperson's *non*-fiduciary duties (of honesty and fair dealing) owed to the *non*-client. But the Legislature never intended that an independent salesperson should magically transform into a fiduciary of a non-client simply because a salesperson from the same brokerage firm ends up on the other side.

The Legislature did not intend the chaotic public-policy disaster the opinion will engender. The Court should grant review to resolve these important issues.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Buyer Horiike Retains A Coldwell Salesperson To Locate
A Residential Property To Purchase.

Plaintiff Hiroshi Horiike retained Chizuko Namba, a salesperson for defendant Coldwell Banker Residential Brokerage Company ("Coldwell"), to locate a residential property to purchase in California. (Opinion ["Opn."], 3.)

Horiike resides in Hong Kong. (6RT 2542-2543.) Horiike speaks Mandarin Chinese and Japanese; he cannot speak English fluently and reads only "very simple" English words. (6RT 2544.) Salesperson Namba's first language is Japanese and she spoke with Horiike only in Japanese. (9RT 3332.) During the previous four years, Horiike had worked exclusively with Namba as a salesperson, viewing 40 to 50 luxury homes with her for potential purchase. (9RT 3332-3333.)

B. The Buyer And His Salesperson Consummate A Sale With
 The Seller And The Seller's Salesperson, Another
 Coldwell Salesperson From A Different Office.

Salesperson Namba saw a listing for a Malibu residence that was exclusively listed by another Coldwell salesperson, Chris Cortazzo. (Opn. 2-3.) The owners had retained Cortazzo to sell their property; he listed it on a multiple listing service. (Opn. 2.)

Namba was affiliated with Coldwell's Beverly Hills office. (9RT 3335.) Cortazzo was affiliated with Coldwell's Malibu West office. (8RT 3159-3160.)

Namba arranged for Cortazzo to show the property to Horiike. (Opn. 3.) Horiike visited the property on one day only; this was the only time he and the seller's salesperson, Cortazzo, ever met or spoke. (Opn. 3; 5RT 2275; 7RT 2823.) It was also the first time that the two Coldwell salespersons (Namba and Cortazzo) had ever met. (9RT 3335.)

Cortazzo does not speak Mandarin or Japanese. (6RT 2465.) He spoke only briefly with Horiike during the house tour. (5RT 2271-2272.) During the tour, Cortazzo handed Horiike a flier describing the property and a visual inspection disclosure. (Opn. 3-4; 7RT 2753; 9RT 3338.) Their brief conversations that one day, and those two documents, constituted the full extent of Cortazzo's direct contact with Horiike during the entire transaction. (5RT 2275.)

Horiike and Namba drew up a purchase offer the night of the house visit, before Horiike returned to Hong Kong. (9RT 3343-3344.) Escrow opened shortly thereafter and successfully closed within a month. (5RT 2274, 2295-2296.)

C. The Seller's Salesperson And The Buyer Never Agree To
 Any Agency Relationship Between Them.

Cortazzo represented the seller only. (6RT 2471-2472; 9RT 3388-3389.) He was never asked and never agreed to represent buyer Horiike.

(6RT 2471-2472; 7RT 2823; 9RT 3338-3389.) Horiike admitted that he never asked Cortazzo to act as his real estate agent, and that he "had nothing to do with" Cortazzo and "only met him once." (7RT 2823.)

No sales or other document listed Cortazzo as an agent for Horiike or as a "dual agent." (E.g., 1AA 17-23 [purchase offers/agreements].)

Horiike and the seller both signed a "Confirmation Real Estate Agency Relationships" form that identified *Coldwell* as the agent of both the buyer and seller; Cortazzo signed for the seller's agent and Namba signed for the buyer's agent. (1AA 154.) Horiike also signed a "Disclosure And Consent For Representation Of More Than One Buyer Or Seller" form that identified the potential dual agent as Coldwell (1AA 159), and a statutorily-required "Disclosure Regarding Real Estate Agency Relationships" form that identified Coldwell as the agent. (1AA 156; Civ. Code, § 2079.16.)

D. The Buyer Sues Coldwell And The Seller's Salesperson
(But Not His Own Salesperson), Claiming The Seller's
Salesperson Falsely Represented The Home's Square
Footage.

Several years after purchasing the property, buyer Horiike filed a complaint against Coldwell and Cortazzo for intentional and negligent misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, unfair business practices in violation of Business and Professions Code section 17200, and false advertising in violation of Business and Professions Code section 17500. (Opn. 5.) He later added a claim for intentional concealment. (*Ibid.*)

Each claim rested on the same allegations: Cortazzo had misrepresented the home's actual square footage, causing Horiike to pay a higher price than warranted. (Opn. 5; 1AA 1-12.) Horiike claimed no wrongdoing by his own salesperson, Namba. (Opn. 5.)

E. The Trial Court Holds That The Seller's Salesperson
Owed No Fiduciary Duty To The Buyer; It Grants
Nonsuit To The Seller's Salesperson On The FiduciaryDuty Claim And Instructs The Jury That Coldwell
Cannot Be Liable For Breach Of Fiduciary Duty Based
On That Salesperson's Acts.

The trial court concluded that Cortazzo owed no fiduciary duty to the buyer. (Opn. 2, 5.) It therefore granted nonsuit to Cortazzo on the claim for breach of fiduciary duty. (*Ibid.*)

Buyer Horiike stipulated that he was not seeking recovery based on any acts of his own salesperson, Namba. (Opn. 5.) The court therefore instructed the jury that Coldwell could be liable for breach of fiduciary duty only if the jury found that some representative of Coldwell other than Cortazzo and Namba breached a fiduciary duty to the buyer. (*Ibid.*)

F. The Jury Finds For The Defendants On All Submitted Claims; The Court Enters A Defense Judgment.

By special verdict, the jury ruled in favor of Coldwell and Cortazzo on the claims for intentional and negligent misrepresentation, intentional

concealment, and breach of fiduciary duty (regarding Coldwell only). (Opn. 5.)

It found under the negligent misrepresentation count that Cortazzo made a misrepresentation of material fact but that he "honestly believed, and had reasonable grounds for believing, the representation was true when he made it." (Opn. 5.) The jury also "found no concealment, because Cortazzo did not intentionally fail to disclose an important or material fact that Horiike did not know and could not reasonably have discovered." (Opn. 5-6.)

The parties had stipulated that the trial court could rule on the two Business and Professions Code claims after the jury trial. (Opn. 5.) The court concluded that "[t]he jury's findings of no actionable misrepresentation or concealment" mandated judgment for the defendants on those claims. (2AA 239:10-12.) It therefore entered judgment in favor of Coldwell and Cortazzo. (Opn. 6.)

G. In A First-Impression Published Decision, The Court Of Appeal Reverses The Judgment, Holding Civil Code Section 2079.13, Subdivision (b), Makes The Seller's Salesperson A Fiduciary Of The Buyer.

The buyer appealed, arguing the trial court erred in finding Cortazzo owed no fiduciary duty to the buyer. (Opn. 2, 6.) The Court of Appeal agreed in a published decision, reversing the judgment and remanding for a new trial. (Opn. 2.)

The published opinion holds, as an issue of first impression, that "[w]hen a broker is the dual agent of both the buyer and the seller in a real property transaction, the salespersons acting under the broker have the same fiduciary duty to the buyer and the seller as the broker." (Opn. 2.) It therefore concluded that Cortazzo, the seller's salesperson, owed the buyer the same fiduciary duty that Coldwell (and the buyer's salesperson) owed the buyer. (Opn. 7-8.)

The opinion does not rely on case law or any legal doctrine, such as the law of agency, respondent superior, or vicarious liability.<sup>2</sup> Instead, the opinion relies on statutory construction, concluding "[t]he duties of brokers and salespersons in real property transactions are regulated by a comprehensive statutory scheme" set forth in Civil Code section 2079 et seq. (Opn. 7.) Ultimately, the holding rests on the court's interpretation of one statute, Civil Code section 2079.13, subdivision (b). (Opn 7-8.) That statute defines the term "associate licensee" for purposes of sections 2079.14 to 2079.24:

"Associate licensee" means a person who is licensed as a real estate broker or salesperson . . . and who is either licensed under a broker or has entered into a written contract with a broker to act as the broker's agent in connection with acts requiring a real estate license and to function under the broker's supervision in the capacity of an associate licensee.

The agent in the real property transaction bears responsibility for his or her associate licensees who perform as agents of the agent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The opinion quotes isolated treatise language about a misunderstanding by salespersons. (Opn. 8, quoting 2 Miller & Starr, Cal. Real Estate (3d ed. 2011) § 3:12, pp. 68-69.) But the treatise cites no authority and the comment is unclear. (See *ibid*.)

When an associate licensee owes a duty to any principal, or to any buyer or seller who is not a principal, in a real property transaction, that duty is equivalent to the duty owed to that party by the broker for whom the associate licensee functions.

(Civ. Code, § 2079.13, subd. (b).)

The opinion concludes that because Cortazzo (the seller's salesperson) and Namba (the buyer's salesperson) were associate licensees of Coldwell, Coldwell was a "dual agent" of the buyer and seller, and Coldwell thus owed fiduciary duties to both the buyer and seller. (Opn. 7-8.)<sup>3</sup> The opinion then holds that Cortazzo, by operation of section 2079.13, subdivision (b), owed not just the seller a fiduciary duty, but also *the buyer*:

Under Civil Code section 2079.13, subdivision (b), the duty that [the seller's salesperson] Cortazzo owed to any principal, or to any buyer who was not a principal, was equivalent to the duty owed to that party by [broker Coldwell]. [Coldwell] owed a fiduciary duty to [buyer] Horiike, and therefore, Cortazzo owed a fiduciary duty to Horiike.

(Opn. 8.)

The trial court, the opinion holds, therefore erred in granting nonsuit to Cortazzo on the fiduciary-duty claim and in instructing the jury that Coldwell could not be liable for breach of fiduciary duty based on his acts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Under the statutes, an "[a]gent' means a person acting under provisions of [the general agency statutes] in a real property transaction, and includes a person who is licensed as a real estate broker . . . and under whose license a listing is executed or an offer to purchase is obtained." (Civ. Code, § 2079.13, subd. (a).)

In turn, a "'[d]ual agent' means an agent acting, either directly or through an associate licensee, as agent for both the seller and the buyer in a real property transaction." (*Id.*, subd. (d).)

Under California common law, dual agents have fiduciary duties to both clients—the buyer and seller. (Opn. 7.)

(Opn. 8.) The opinion then relates the broad scope of Cortazzo's purported fiduciary duties to his non-client, the buyer:

"'[A] broker's fiduciary duty to his client requires the highest good faith and undivided service and loyalty. [Citations.] 'The broker as a fiduciary has a duty to learn the material facts that may affect the principal's decision. He is hired for his professional knowledge and skill; he is expected to perform the necessary research and investigation in order to know those important matters that will affect the principal's decision, and he has a duty to counsel and advise the principal regarding the propriety and ramifications of the decision. The agent's duty to disclose material information to the principal includes the duty to disclose reasonably obtainable material information."

### (Opn. 9, citation omitted.)

The opinion concludes that even though—as the jury properly found on the non-fiduciary-duty-related claims—Cortazzo honestly believed, and had reasonable grounds for believing, his square-footage representations to the buyer and he lacked fraudulent intent and did not intentionally conceal anything, he still could be potentially liable for breach of fiduciary duty to the buyer. (Opn. 9-10.)

Defendants moved for rehearing solely on the ground that the remand instructions were unclear. The petition was denied.

#### WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- I. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE
  THE OPINION'S NEWFOUND IMPOSITION OF
  FIDUCIARY DUTIES IMPLICATES IMPORTANT
  STATEWIDE PUBLIC POLICY ISSUES THAT
  IMPACT ALL CALIFORNIA BUYERS AND SELLERS
  OF RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY AND THEIR AGENTS.
  - A. Residential Sales Frequently Have Different Salespersons

    From The Same Brokerage On Opposite Sides.

There are two types of dual agency in the real estate industry: (1) an individual represents both the buyer and the seller in the same transaction; and (2) different salespersons from the same real estate brokerage firm represent the buyer and the seller, i.e, "intra-firm transactions" where the firm itself is a dual agent but there are separate, independent salespersons—the context here. (Pendergrass, The Real Estate Consumer's Agency And Disclosure Act: The Case Against Dual Agency (1996) 48 Ala. L. Rev. 277, 279 fn. 8 ["Agency/Disclosure Act"].)

Intra-firm transactions are common; in some brokerage firms, they comprise over 50% of the transactions. (Szto, *Dual Real Estate Agents And The Double Duty Of Loyalty* (2002) 41 Real Est. L.J. 22, 43-44 ["*Dual Agents*"].) There are an estimated thirty-two national and regional real estate franchise brands operating across the country; over half of the

nation's realtors work under a franchise banner. (Sichelman, *Berkshire Hathaway To Shake Up Real Estate Franchise Landscape*, September 20, 2013, Los Angeles Times <a href="mailto:latimes.com/business/">latimes.com/business/</a> realestate/la-fi-lew-20130922,0,907149story>.)

By some estimates, the five largest firms alone (RE/MAX, Coldwell Banker, Keller Williams, Century 21 and Prudential) control almost 31% of the U.S market in terms of transaction sides (buyer or seller). (RE/MAX LLC, *Press Release, Study Confirms: RE/MAX Sells More Real Estate* (July 25, 2013) <a href="http://files.a2.remax.com/content/blog/">http://files.a2.remax.com/content/blog/</a> market\_share\_study\_july\_2013.pdf> [as of May 1, 2014]>.)

Among that top five, the number of associate licensees and offices nationwide is gargantuan (2011 figures): Century 21: 119,206 associates among 7,864 offices; RE/MAX: 89,628 licensees among 6,259 offices; Coldwell: 87,203 associates among 3,202 offices; Keller Williams: 77,672 licensees among 701 offices; and Prudential: 55,000 associates among 1,700 offices. (Comparison of Residential Real Estate Franchises (July/Aug. 2011) REALTOR, at pp. 28-29 <a href="http://realtormag.realtor.org/files/2011\_franchise\_report\_0.pdf">http://realtormag.realtor.org/files/2011\_franchise\_report\_0.pdf</a> [as of May 15, 2014].)

Accordingly, intra-firm transactions are a recurring, important issue across California and the entire country.

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