## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### HIROSHI HORIIKE,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

V.

#### COLDWELL BANKER RESIDENTIAL BROKERAGE COMPANY, a

California Corporation, and CHRIS CORTAZZO, an individual,

Defendants and Respondents.

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal
Second Appellate District, Division 5
2d Civil Case No. B246606
Los Angeles County Superior Case No. SC110477

SUPREME COURT FILED

JUN 2 0 2014

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

#### THE LAW OFFICES OF DAVID W. MACEY, P.A.

David W. Macey, Esq., pro hac vice pending (Florida Bar No. 185612) Lindsay M. Alter, Esq., pro hac vice pending (Florida Bar No. 103237)

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

The California Rules of Court limit this Court's jurisdiction to situations in which it is "necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) The Petition for Review does not refer to the foregoing standard, nor does it directly analyze its elements.<sup>3</sup>

Nevertheless, the Petitioners contend that this Court should accept jurisdiction because: (1) the Court of Appeal's opinion "implicates important statewide public policy issues," and (2) this Court should resolve "the proper construction of civil code section 2079.13." (Petition for Review ["PR"] 13, 25.) However, the petition does not identify a conflict in existing law or any important issues of law that need to be addressed. Although the petition claims issues of first impression (*Id.* at pp. 9-12), first impression issues alone do not create a lack of uniformity or an unsettled important question of law.

The Petitioners describe the decision of the Court of Appeal as "deeply disruptive" to the real estate industry, thereby creating a special situation justifying review. (PR 3.) To describe the action of the Court of Appeal as "deeply disruptive" is dramatic, perhaps, but also misleading. In sober truth the decision did this and no more: It applied the existing duties

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The Rules further require that a "petition *must* explain how the case presents a ground for review under rule 8.500(b)." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.504(b)(1), italics added.)

the law imposes on real estate agents and the proper contours of legal principles affecting fiduciaries to the specific facts of this case.

What the Court of Appeal rejected, and properly so, was an attempt to rewrite and misapply section 2079. The rewrite by the trial court and the Petitioners would afford salespersons the ability to take advantage of unwary buyers while evading any liability for doing so. The Court of Appeal properly rejected this unsupportable spin on dual agency. None of this suggests a legal issue for review.

### I. THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THERE IS NO CONFLICT IN THE CASE LAW

Petitioners concede at the outset of the petition that *Horiike* constitutes a matter of first impression. (PR 9-12.) This concession renders suspect the implication that review is necessary to establish uniformity of the law. (*Id.* at pp. 26-28.) Undeterred, Petitioners contend that the Court of Appeal's decision goes against "how brokerage firms always operated in California before this opinion." (*Id.* at p. 23.)

However, nowhere in their petition have Petitioners pointed to a single California case to establish this precedent. That is for good reason: The purported conflict in the case law urged by Petitioners to justify review simply does not exist. It is on this basis that the petition should be denied.

Notwithstanding, in an attempt to create conflict, Petitioners rely solely on the New Mexico case of *Moser v. Bertram* (1993) 115 N.M. 766

[858 P.2d 854] (*Moser*). (PR 27-28.) Although *Moser* is, indeed, from another jurisdiction and therefore not binding on this Court, *Moser* is also inapplicable to the instant case due to distinct factual differences.

While Petitioners quote various conclusions from the *Moser* Court's opinion, Petitioners conspicuously ignore the fact that the Court in *Moser* did not consider the intra-firm transaction in question a "dual agency" transaction. Therefore, it did not apply the heightened obligations that are owed in such a transaction to the agents:

It is worth noting that this case does not involve dual agency. In a dual agency situation, one agent has fiduciary obligations to two principals with divergent interests, evoking conflict of interest concerns and consequent disclosure requirements.

(Moser, supra, 858 P.2d at p. 856, italics added.) This is very different from the instant transaction where the parties executed disclosure forms memorializing the nature of their duties as "dual agents" and where the language of the disclosures clarify that in California an intra-firm transaction is considered a "dual agency."

Interestingly, the *Moser* decision is completely at odds with the Petitioners' position on fiduciary duties. The Court in *Moser* did not conclude that a seller's salesperson never owes a fiduciary duty to the buyer in an intra-firm transaction. (*Moser*, *supra*, 858 P.2d at p. 856.) Instead, the Court clarified that where a seller's salesperson is at fault in "appointing,"

supervising, or cooperating" with the other salesperson, the fiduciary duty of the buyer's salesperson can be "charged" to the seller's salesperson. (*Id.* at p. 856.)

Even under New Mexico law, Horiike would be entitled to a cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty against Cortazzo because Cortazzo failed to cooperate with his salesperson, Namba. The Court of Appeal found that "Cortazzo knew the square footage of the property had been measured and reflected differently in different documents." (Opn. 10.) In contrast to *Moser*, the Petitioners espouse a position in which a buyer is *never* owed a fiduciary duty by the seller's salesperson in an intra-firm transaction.

While New Mexico's construction is different from California's statutory scheme, which imposes a fiduciary duty as a consequence of the "dual agency" nature of the transaction, the result is the same. In both states, the wrongful conduct of a seller's salesperson in an intra-firm transaction gives rise to a breach of fiduciary duty cause of action. Indeed, that is exactly what took place in the instant case when Cortazzo deliberately failed to explain a known and material discrepancy in square footage to the buyer's agent, Namba.

Similarly, other jurisdictions that have broached this issue have also held that a buyer may avail himself of a cause of action for breach of fiduciary duty against the seller's salesperson in an intra-firm transaction, albeit for different reasons.<sup>4</sup> California law is in line with these decisions and affords its consumers the same protections.

Yet the Petitioners encourage this Court to eliminate these protections, and in so doing, circumvent a clear statutory scheme that is in line with other jurisdictions that have addressed this issue. Petitioners point to no instance of lack of decisional uniformity in California or elsewhere. Therefore, review by this Honorable Court is unwarranted.

### II. THE PETITION SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THERE IS NO UNSETTLED IMPORTANT LEGAL ISSUE

The petition should be denied because there is no important issue of law to settle. Simply because a case is first to apply the law to a new factual scenario does not mean that Supreme Court review is necessary and proper. Although Petitioners argue that review is necessary to settle an "important question" of law, the Court of Appeal hardly left the law unsettled. (See generally, PR 25-34.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Analogously, in *Bazal v. Rhines* (Iowa Ct.App. 1999) 600 N.W. 2d 327, the sellers sued the buyer's agent for breach of fiduciary duty where the parties had executed a number of disclosure forms, thereby directly and expressly acknowledging their status and duties under the law. The court held that because both the seller's and buyer's agents worked for the same brokerage, there existed a dual agency. The court reasoned that by virtue of the parties executing the "Consensual Dual Agency Agreement," "Listing Agreement," and the "Agency Policy Disclosure and Acknowledgement" form, both the brokerage and the buyer's agent owed fiduciary duties to the sellers. (600 N.W. 2d at p. 329.)

Rather, in analyzing the duties owed by a salesperson acting for a dual agent, the Court of Appeal drew upon the plain language of the statute and applied that law to the specific facts before it. And contrary to Petitioner's assertions, the Court of Appeal opinion provides useful guidance to professionals by delineating the proper contours of legal principles affecting fiduciaries.

Indeed, to accept Petitioners' position would be to engraft upon an already comprehensive statutory scheme. (See, e.g., Opn. 7.) Petitioners are attempting to advance the incorrect notion that salespersons "can deal independently in [a] transaction even though they are negotiating with a different salesperson employed by the same broker who is representing the other party to the transaction." (Opn. 8, quoting 2 Miller & Starr, Cal. Real Estate (3d ed. 2011) § 3:12, p. 68, fns. omitted.)

The Court of Appeal, in holding that section 2079 authorizes that "Cortazzo, as an associate licensee acting on behalf of CB, had the same fiduciary duty to Horiike as CB," correctly applied existing law to the facts before it. (Opn. 8.) Because the court analyzed and decided the question in a manner consistent with both the law on the subject and the facts of this case, there is no need for this Court's review. Therefore, the petition should be denied.

# III. REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY APPLIED THE CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS LANGUAGE OF CIVIL CODE SECTION 2079 TO THE FACTS OF THE INSTANT CASE

Once the petition's hyperbole is stripped away, the Petitioners' "grounds" for review by this Court amount to a single claim that the Court of Appeal erred in "construing section 2079.13, subdivision (b)." (PR 32.) As more fully described below, review is not necessary or warranted to interpret section 2079 because (1) the words are clear and unambiguous, and (2) the statutory scheme of section 2079 supports the Court of Appeal's holding.

#### A. The Petition Should Be Denied Because Section 2079 Is Clear And Unambiguous And There Is Thereby No Need For Construction

We begin our inquiry, as we must, with the language of the statute itself. (See *Wilcox v. Birthwhistle* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 973, 977 [90 Cal.Rptr.2d 260, 987 P.2d 727].) Because the language is clear and unambiguous, "there is no need for construction, nor is it necessary to resort to indicia of the intent of the Legislature." (*Lungren v. Deukmejian* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735 [248 Cal.Rptr. 115, 755 P.2d 299].)

Section 2079.13, subdivision (b) defines an "associate licensee" as a licensed real estate broker or salesperson "who is either licensed under a broker or has entered into a written contract with a broker to act as the broker's agent in connection with acts requiring a real estate license and to

function under the broker's supervision in the capacity of an associate licensee."

Section 2079.13(b) further states that "[t]he agent in the real property transaction bears responsibility for his or her associate licensees who perform as agents of the agent. When an associate licensee owes a duty to any principal, or to any buyer or seller who is not a principal, in a real property transaction, that duty is equivalent to the duty owed to that party by the broker for whom the associate licensee functions." (Italics added.)

By its unambiguous language, then, section 2079.13 expressly states that when a broker is the dual agent of both the buyer and the seller in a real property transaction, the salespersons acting under the broker have the same fiduciary duty to the buyer and seller as the broker does. (Opn. 2.) The Court of Appeal, in making its decision, simply evaluated the clear and unambiguous language of the statute to the facts before it and correctly found that "Cortazzo, as an associate licensee acting on behalf of CB, had the same fiduciary duty to Horiike as CB." (*Id.* at p. 8.)

## B. The Petition Should Be Denied Because The Statutory Scheme Of Section 2079 Supports The Court's Holding

The Court of Appeal's analysis and holding are not controversial. Rather, the Court of Appeal thoroughly analyzed the statutory scheme of section 2079 and followed the parameters of settled principles of law pertaining to dual agency. (Opn. 7-9.)

Indeed, the duties of brokers and salespersons in real property transactions are regulated by a comprehensive statutory scheme. (Civ. Code, § 2079 et seq.) Under this scheme, an "agent" is a licensed real estate broker "under whose license a listing is executed or an offer to purchase is obtained." (Civ. Code, § 2079.13, subd. (a).) "Dual agent' means an agent acting, either directly or through an associate licensee, as agent for both the seller and the buyer in a real property transaction." (Civ. Code, § 2079.13, subd. (d).)

The California Legislature has expressly recognized the importance of full disclosure of dual agency. (See *Assilzadeh v. Cal. Fed. Bank* (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 399 [98 Cal.Rptr.2d 176].) Section 2079.14 mandates that the buyer and the seller be made aware of the obligations of their agents in different scenarios. Section 2079.16 makes it clear that a dual agent's fiduciary duty, which is owed to *both* the buyer and the seller, is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the instant case, because CB was representing both the buyer and the seller in the transaction, the parties to the transaction executed three disclosure forms memorializing the nature of CB's "dual agency" role, and thereby Cortazzo's concomitant duties under the law.

distinguishable from any obligations owed by each agent. Lastly, section 2079.17 requires that the selling agent "disclose to the buyer and seller whether the selling agent is acting in the real property transaction exclusively as the buyer's agent, exclusively as the seller's agent, or as a dual agent representing both the buyer and the seller." (Italics added.)

Furthermore, Petitioners acknowledge that CB acted as a dual agent in the transaction. (PR 7, 13, 20.) However, Petitioners attempt to distract this Court by arguing that "subdivision (b)'s reference to 'agent' actually refers to a person, something Coldwell is not." (*Id.* at p. 32, italics omitted.)

The concession that CB is a "dual agent" and subsequent denial that CB is an "agent" is, however, a *non sequitur*. Section 2079.13(d) clearly provides that a "[d]ual agent' means an *agent*." (Italics added.) Petitioners argue that pursuant to section 2079.13(a), the definition for "agent" is "a person acting under [the general agency statutes] in a real property transaction, and includes a person who is licensed as a real estate broker." (PR 31, italics omitted.)

Noticeably absent from Petitioners' definition, however, is their omission of section 2079.13(a)'s definition, which states that it commences with the section of the Business and Professions Code regulating real estate transactions. Pursuant to that section, "[p]erson' includes *corporation*, *company and firm*." (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 10006, italics added.)

Therefore, the Court of Appeal's holding is directly in line with the statutory scheme of section 2079. As the court properly concluded, "[u]nder Civil Code section 2079.13, subdivision (b), the duty that Cortazzo owed to any principal, or to any buyer who was not a principal, was equivalent to the duty owed to that party by CB. CB owed a fiduciary duty to Horiike, and therefore, Cortazzo owed a fiduciary duty to Horiike." (Opn. 8.)

# IV. PETITIONERS' REMAINING PUBLIC POLICY ARGUMENTS ARE ILLUSORY AND IRRELEVANT TO THE QUESTION OF WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

Petitioners' remaining arguments are raised for the first time in their petition. Petitioners did not present these arguments to the trial court or to the Court of Appeal. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(c)(1) ["As a policy matter, on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal"]; see, e.g., Wilson v. 21<sup>st</sup> Century Ins. Co. (2007) 42 Cal.4th 713, 726 [68 Cal.Rptr.3d 746, P.3d 1082].) Because Petitioners have failed to raise any "extremely significant issues of public policy and public interest" that would warrant this Court's departure from its ordinary policy, Petitioners are thereby barred from seeking review on these new issues. (Flannery v. Prentice (2001) 26 Cal.4th 572, 591 [110 Cal.Rptr.2d 809, 28 P.3d 860].)

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